
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Important information about Syndicate Reports and Accounts 
 

Access to this document is restricted to persons who have given the certification set forth below. If 
this document has been forwarded to you and you have not been asked to give the certification, 
please be aware that you are only permitted to access it if you are able to give the certification. 

 
The syndicate reports and accounts set forth in this section of the Lloyd’s website, which have been 

filed with Lloyd’s in accordance with the Syndicate Accounting Byelaw (No. 8 of 2005), are being 
provided for informational purposes only. The syndicate reports and accounts have not been prepared 

by Lloyd’s, and Lloyd’s has no responsibility for their accuracy or content. Access to the syndicate 
reports and accounts is not being provided for the purposes of soliciting membership in Lloyd’s or 

membership on any syndicate of Lloyd’s, and no offer to join Lloyd’s or any syndicate is being made 
hereby. Members of Lloyd’s are reminded that past performance of a syndicate in any syndicate year 

is not predictive of the related syndicate’s performance in any subsequent syndicate year. 
 

You acknowledge and agree to the foregoing as a condition of your accessing the syndicate reports 

and accounts. You also agree that you will not provide any person with a copy of any syndicate report 

and accounts without also providing them with a copy of this acknowledgment and agreement, by 

which they will also be bound. 
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The Directors of the Managing Agent, Brit Syndicates Limited (BSL) a company registered in England and 
Wales, present the report and annual accounts of Syndicate 2987 (the Syndicate) for the year ended 31 
December 2019.  
 
These annual accounts are prepared using the annual basis of accounting as required by Statutory Instrument 
No 1950 of 2008, The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 
2008 (Lloyd’s Regulations 2008). 
 
Principal activity and review of the business 
 
The Syndicate’s principal activity is the underwriting of general insurance and reinsurance business in the 
Lloyd’s market. The underwriting strategy reflects the Directors’ view of prevailing market conditions in the 
classes of business written by the Syndicate during the year. 
 
The result for the 2019 calendar year is a profit of US$90.5m (2018: loss US$63.6m) reflecting a positive 
underwriting result with a combined ratio of 97.5% (2018:104.1%) and a strong investment return. 
 
The Syndicate’s key performance indicators during the year were as follows: 

 

 2019 2018 

  US$m US$m 

Gross premiums written 2,262.4 2,209.8 

Net premiums written 1,395.1 1,244.0 

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance 1,371.8 1,236.4 

Underwriting result 33.5 (56.9) 

Technical account investment income 28.0 50.4 

Technical result for the financial year 61.5 (6.5) 

Non-technical account for the financial year 29.0 (57.1) 

Result for the Financial Year 90.5 (63.6) 

Combined ratio* 97.5% 104.1% 

 
*The 2018 Combined ratio in the above table reflects an adjustment to net earned premium of US$186.3m with an equal and opposite adjustment in net 

incurred claims to remove the distorting effect of the loss portfolio reinsurance contract. 
 
Gross premiums written 
 
An analysis of gross premiums written by the Brit portfolio is as follows: 
 

 

 2019 2018 Variance  

US$m US$m % 

Global Specialty Direct             1,724.7              1,758.0  (1.9) 

Global Specialty Reinsurance                537.7                 451.8  19.0 

Total             2,262.4              2,209.8  2.4 

 
Gross premium written increased by 2.4% to US$2,262.4m (2018: US$2,209.8m). Global Specialty Direct 
business decreased by 1.9% to US$1,724.7m (2018: US$1,758.0m), while Global Specialty Reinsurance 
increased by 19.0% to US$537.7m (2018: US$451.8m). The key drivers for the increase are outlined below. 
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Growth in current year premiums against 2018 arose from Property Facilities, Casualty Treaty and Terrorism, 
largely driven by the renewal of Advent business into the Syndicate in 2019. Furthermore, targeted growth in 
Cyber and Property Treaty, and new and recent initiatives including Scion (a US MGA owned by the Brit group) 
and Kidnap and Ransom also contributed to the top line. 
 
Underwriting discipline has been retained across all lines and certain, worst performing classes were exited 
where believed to be inadequately priced or outside the Syndicate’s appetite. Latin American Property 
Facultative Reinsurance, Casualty, Inland Marine and Engineering business were exited as well as withdrawing 
from Singapore and China. This streamlining provides added focus on the Syndicate’s core markets, where 
there is most potential to further build meaningful scale and generate sustainable underwriting profit. 
 
The impact of foreign exchange resulted in a US$73.4m, or 3.4%, year-on-year increase in premium, reflecting 
the movement during 2019 of the US dollar against core currencies in which the Syndicate writes business. 
 
The estimated risk-adjusted rate increase on renewed business was 5.9% building on the positive rate 
increases seen in 2018. Positive rate movements have been seen across most classes, as underwriters 
continue to attempt to achieve rate increases to improve performance on the recent loss affected areas of the 
portfolio. 
 
The retention rate for the period was 78.0% (2018: 80.2%). The retention rates achieved in 2018 and 2019 
reflect the successful renewal of a profitable book of business. The reduction in 2019 results from the action 
taken to improve the Syndicate’s performance by discontinuing business lines which remained challenging.  
 
Outwards reinsurance 
 
Reinsurance expenditure in 2019 was US$867.3m or 38.3% of GWP (2018: US$965.8m/43.7%), a decrease 
of US$98.5m. The 2018 expenditure however includes $186.3m for a loss portfolio reinsurance contract with 
RiverStone Managing Agency Limited (for and on behalf of Lloyd’s Syndicate 3500), a Fairfax sister company. 
Adjusting for this contract, reinsurance spend has increased by $87.8m, primarily reflecting additional 
purchases in the year to manage net exposure and / or downside risk. 
 
Underwriting result 
 
The Syndicate reported an underwriting profit of $33.5m (2018: loss $56.9m) and a combined ratio of 97.5% 
(2018: 104.1%). The Syndicate benefited from more benign catastrophe experience in 2019, which improved 
the combined ratio by 8.9% or $103.9m when compared to 2018. 
 
The table below sets out the net impact to the result analysed by event: 
 2019 2018 
Major losses  US$m US$m 

Storm Dorian 19.0             -    
Typhoon Faxai 8.5             -    
Typhoon Hagibis  17.0             -    
Typhoon Jebi             -            18.0  
Hurricane Florence             -            20.7  
Hurricane Mangkhut             -              5.3  
Hurricane Michael             -            38.3  

California Wildfires             -            66.1  

Total          44.5        148.4  

Effect on COR%  3.2% 12.1% 
   

The result also includes $39.5m of prior year reserve releases improving the combined ratio by 2.9% (2018: 
6.2%). 
 
Investment return 
 
Net investment return for the 2019 financial year totalled $35.9m, a 98.3% increase compared to the previous 
year (2018: $18.1m). Fixed income returns benefitted from higher yields at the turn of 2019. The fall in yields 
during 2019 as the US Federal Reserve cut rates three times then boosted unrealised gains. The equity portfolio 
also performed strongly, despite bouts of volatility during the year, as global indices responded to each 
downturn with a more sustained upswing and along the way kept setting record highs. 
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Syndicate outlook 
 
The market continues to harden and 2020 is expected to mark the third consecutive year of rate increases after 
years of decline. This does present a real opportunity for profitable growth. Syndicate 2987 stamp capacity for 
the 2020 year of account has increased to £1.44bn from £1.36bn for the 2019 year of account as the Syndicate 
seeks to focus on the growth of sustainable profitable classes of business after taking decisive action to exit 
certain classes during 2019. 
 
There are still a multitude of challenges facing the Lloyd’s and general insurance market. The combination of 
continued catastrophe events; the impact of medium loss events, with commentators attributing an increase in 
the frequency and severity of such events to climate change and other factors such as population growth and 
increasing insured values; continuation of pressures on attritional ratios largely driven by prior year soft market 
conditions and social inflation in the US Casualty market, all place a strain on profit. 
 

Despite the welcome withdrawal of some capacity, available capacity continues to exceed demand whilst also 
observing increasing competition from local carriers in a number of markets in which Brit operate. 
 

Lloyd’s has expressed its support for innovation and good business growth within the market, while reinforcing 
through the 2020 approval process that perennially unprofitable areas must demonstrate a return to profit.  It is 
anticipated that these actions will help drive improvement in market conditions as the market focuses on 
sustainable underwriting.   
 
We continue to face political and economic uncertainty and challenges. 2019 saw continued volatility in financial 
markets and experienced weakening growth, recession fears, falling yields, heightened tension around 
international trade and loose monetary policy. These trends show no signs of abating as we go into 2020 and 
the resulting outlook for the investment market continues to be challenging. 
 
We believe our financial strength, underwriting discipline and our clear strategy focused on leadership, 
innovation and distribution, uniquely position us to respond to the challenges of today’s market and to benefit 
from opportunities as they arise 
 
United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union (Brexit) 
 
Brit has continued to work to minimise the impact of Brexit on the Syndicate and Brit’s clients. While direct 
European business is not material for the Syndicate, Brit has continued to monitor and evaluate the associated 
risks and has implemented the processes and business changes required to write business onto Lloyd’s new 
Brussels-based European insurance company (LBS), of which Brit is fully supportive.   
 
The known work required is complete and new processes are operational. The Syndicate commenced writing 
business via LBS in the fourth quarter of 2018, for risks incepting on or after 1 January 2019. The placement 
process is more onerous than for non-European business, however, the solution in place is the most effective 
approach given that the UK will potentially lose its passporting rights. 
 
Following the UK’s exit from the EU on 31 January 2020, significant uncertainties remain surrounding the UK’s 
future relationship with the EU, with potentially unknown economic and political implications for the UK. Brit 
continues to monitor developments closely. 
 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak 
 
The Board have been closely monitoring the Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak as it continues to evolve, with 
outbreaks being reported across the globe. 
 
Potential risks from the virus include not only insurance risk, but also investment and solvency risk following 
the capital market’s response to the outbreak.  
 
Brit is committed to and focused on the potential impact on its customers, capital providers and employees. We 
remain responsive to the needs of our customers and have contingency plans in place to ensure we can 
continue to provide the right level of customer service, and to protect the health and well-being of our 
employees.  
 
We continue to monitor the situation and will adapt our plans as necessary to ensure we act in the best interests 
of all our stakeholders. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties  
 
The information on principal risks and uncertainties is disclosed in note 3 to the accounts. 
 
Employee and environmental matters  
 
All staff in the UK are employed by Brit Group Services Limited, the group services company and the full staff 
cost disclosures are included in the notes to those accounts. Amounts are recharged to the Syndicate as part 
of the fixed fee charged by the Managing Agent. 
 
Brit is committed to managing and reducing its environmental impact in a cost effective and responsible way. 
 
Directors 
 
The names of the current Directors of the Managing Agent and those who have served during the year are 
shown on page 50. 
 
Independent Auditors 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP remain in office as the Syndicate’s Auditors. 
 
Statement of disclosure of information to the Auditors 
 
Each person who is a Director of the Managing Agent at the date of approval of this report confirms that: 
 

• so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information, being information needed by the 
Syndicate’s auditors in connection with its report, of which the Syndicate’s auditors are unaware; and 

 

• he or she has taken all the steps that he or she is obliged to take as a Director in order to make himself or 
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Syndicate’s auditors are aware of 
that information. 

 
 
 
On behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
Matthew Wilson 
Chief Executive Officer 
03 March 2020  
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Statement of Managing Agent’s Responsibilities 
 
The Managing Agent is responsible for preparing the Syndicate annual accounts in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations. 
 
The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008 require the 
Managing Agent to prepare Syndicate annual accounts at 31 December each year in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom accounting standards and applicable law). 
The Syndicate annual accounts are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Syndicate as at that date and of its profit or loss for that year. 
 
In preparing the Syndicate annual accounts, the Managing Agent is required to: 

1. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

2. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

3. state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the notes to the Syndicate annual accounts; and 

4. prepare the Syndicate annual accounts on the basis that the Syndicate will continue to write future 
business unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Syndicate will do so. 

The Directors of the Managing Agent confirm that they have complied with the above requirement in preparing 
the Syndicate annual accounts. 

The Managing Agent is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Syndicate and enable it to comply with the Insurance Accounts 
Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008. It is also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Syndicate and hence for taking reasonable steps for prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities. 
 
The Managing Agent is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the business’ website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of annual accounts may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Member of Syndicate 2987 

Report on the Syndicate annual accounts 

Opinion 

 
In our opinion, Syndicate 2987’s syndicate annual accounts (the “syndicate annual accounts”): 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the syndicate’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its profit 

and cash flows for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards comprising 

FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s 

Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008.  

 
We have audited the syndicate annual accounts included within the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts (the 
“Annual Report”), which comprise: the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019; the income 
statement, the statement of changes in member’s balance and the statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the notes to the syndicate annual accounts, which include a description of the significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.  
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and The 
Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008, as amended by 
The Statutory Auditors and Third Country Auditors Regulations 2017 and other applicable law. 
 
Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 
syndicate annual accounts section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Independence 
 
We remained independent of the syndicate in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the syndicate annual accounts in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
ISAs (UK) require us to report to you when: 

• the Managing Agent’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the syndicate 

annual accounts is not appropriate; or 

• the Managing Agent has not disclosed in the syndicate annual accounts any identified material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the syndicate’s ability to continue to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the syndicate 

annual accounts are authorised for issue. 

 
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 
 
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to 
the syndicate’s ability to continue as a going concern. For example, the terms of the United Kingdom’s 
withdrawal from the European Union are not clear, and it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications 
on the syndicate’s business and the wider economy. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Member of Syndicate 2987 (continued) 

Reporting on other information 
 
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the syndicate annual 
accounts and our auditors’ report thereon. The Managing Agent is responsible for the other information. Our 
opinion on the syndicate annual accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the syndicate annual accounts, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the syndicate annual 
accounts or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify 
an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to 
conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the syndicate annual accounts or a material misstatement 
of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on 
these responsibilities. 
 
With respect to the Report of the Directors of the Managing Agent (“Managing Agent’s Report”), we also 
considered whether the disclosures required by The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and 
Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008 have been included. 
 
Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) 
require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below. 
 
Managing Agent’s Report 
 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Managing 
Agent’s Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 is consistent with the syndicate annual accounts and has 
been prepared in accordance with The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate 
Accounts) Regulations 2008. 
 
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the syndicate and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Managing Agent’s Report.  
 
 
Responsibilities for the syndicate annual accounts and the audit 
 
Responsibilities of the managing agent for the syndicate annual accounts 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Managing Agent’s Responsibilities set out on page 6, the Managing 
Agent is responsible for the preparation of the syndicate annual accounts in accordance with the applicable 
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The Managing Agent is also responsible 
for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of syndicate annual accounts 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the syndicate annual accounts, the Managing Agent is responsible for assessing the syndicate’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless it is intended for the syndicate to cease operations, or it has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Member of Syndicate 2987 (continued) 
 
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the syndicate annual accounts 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the syndicate annual accounts as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these syndicate annual 
accounts. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the syndicate annual accounts is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 
 
Use of this report 
 
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the syndicate’s member in accordance 
with part 2 of The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008, 
as amended by The Statutory Auditors and Third Country Auditors Regulations 2017 and for no other purpose. 
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing. 
 
Other required reporting  
 
Other matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
Under The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate and Aggregate Accounts) regulations 2008, as 
amended by The Statutory Auditors and Third Country Auditors Regulations 2017, we are required to report to 
you if, in our opinion: 
 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or  

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Managing Agent in respect of the syndicate; 
or 

• certain disclosures of Managing Agent remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• the syndicate annual accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.  
 
 
 
 
Mark Bolton (Senior statutory auditor)      
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
03 March 2020 
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2019 2018 

  Note US$m US$m 

Gross premiums written 4 2,262.4  2,209.8  

Outward reinsurance premiums   (867.3) (965.8) 

Net premiums written   1,395.1 1,244.0 

Change in the gross provision for unearned premiums 12 (56.0) (26.6) 

Change in the provision for unearned premiums, reinsurers’ 
share 12 32.7 19.0 

Net change in the provision for unearned premiums   (23.3) (7.6) 

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance  

                  
1,371.8  

                  
1,236.4  

Allocated investment return transferred from the non-technical 
account   28.0 50.4 

Total technical income   
                  

1,399.8  
                  

1,286.8  

Claims paid:    

Gross amount 13 (1,350.7) (1,343.9) 

Reinsurers’ share 13 684.6 618.4 

Net claims paid   (666.1) (725.5) 

Change in the provision for claims:    

Gross amount  82.2 (267.2) 

Reinsurers’ share   (125.8) 346.5 

Net change in the provision for claims   (43.6) 79.3 

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance 13 (709.7) (646.2) 

Net operating expenses 5 (628.6) (647.1) 

Total technical charges   (1,338.3) (1,293.3) 

Balance on the technical account for general business   61.5 (6.5) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these accounts.  
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  2019 2018 

  Note US$m US$m 

Balance on the technical account for general business    61.5 (6.5) 

Investment income   37.9 33.7 

Unrealised gains/(losses) on investments  4.6 (6.4) 

Realised losses on investments   (6.6) (9.2) 

Net investment return 8 35.9 18.1 

Allocated investment return transferred to general business 
technical account 8 (28.0) (50.4) 

Profit /(loss) on exchange   21.1 (24.8) 

Result for the financial year   90.5 (63.6) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these accounts. 
 
There were no amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in the current or preceding year other than 
those included in the Income Statement. Therefore no Statement of Other Comprehensive Income has been 
presented. 
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  2019 2018 

  Note US$m US$m 

Member's balance brought forward at 1 January   (114.2) (55.5) 

Total comprehensive income for the financial year  90.5 (63.6) 

Transfer to /(from) Funds in Syndicate 20 156.3 194.2 

Distribution of the closed year of account  (46.4) (194.2) 

(Payments) /receivables on account in respect of overseas 
taxation   (0.4) 4.9 

Member's balance carried forward at 31 December   85.8 (114.2) 

 

The Member’s balance comprises the following: 

 

  2019 2018 

    US$m US$m 

Underwriting participation   86.4 (114.0) 

Payments on account in respect of overseas taxation   (0.6) (0.2) 

Member's balance carried forward at 31 December   85.8 (114.2) 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these accounts
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  2019 2018 

  Note US$m US$m 

Assets    

Investments:    

Financial investments 10,11 2,006.9 1,667.1 

    2,006.9 1,667.1 

Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions:    

Provision for unearned premium 12 387.5 352.3 

Claims outstanding 13 1,969.7 2,068.3 

    2,357.2 2,420.6 

Debtors:    

Debtors due within one year:    

Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations  635.6 576.0 

Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations  477.2 385.4 

Other debtors  - 3.1 

Debtors due after one year:    

Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations  0.1 0.3 

Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations   0.2 0.5 

    1,113.1 965.3 

Other assets:    

Cash at bank and in hand 14 31.1 25.0 

Other 15 243.6 268.1 

    274.7 293.1 

Prepayments and accrued income:    

Deferred acquisition costs 16 254.5 243.0 

Other prepayments and accrued income   9.4 6.0 

    263.9 249.0 

Total assets   6,015.8 5,595.1 

        
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these accounts. 
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  2019 2018 

 Note US$m US$m 

Member's balance and liabilities     

Member's balance  85.8 (114.2) 

    85.8 (114.2) 

Technical provisions:     

Provision for unearned premium 12 972.5 909.5 

Claims outstanding 13 4,274.9 4,321.6 

    5,247.4 5,231.1 

Creditors:     

Creditors arising out of direct insurance operations 17 38.5 13.1 

Creditors arising out of reinsurance operations  592.1 428.9 

Derivative contracts 11 12.4 2.8 

Other creditors  3.4 2.5 

    646.4 447.3 

Accruals and deferred income   36.2 30.9 

Total liabilities   5,930.0 5,709.3 

Total member's balance and liabilities   6,015.8 5,595.1 

    
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these accounts. 

The annual accounts on pages 10 to 49 were approved by the Board of Brit Syndicates Limited on 03 March 
2020 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Matthew Wilson       
Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark Allan 
Chief Financial Officer
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  2019 2018 

 Note US$m US$m 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Result for the financial year  90.5 (63.6) 

Movement in unearned premiums and outstanding claims  (26.2) 293.8 

Movement in reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums and outstanding 
claims  93.1 (365.5) 

Increase in debtors  (160.0) (69.5) 

Increase/(decrease) in creditors  193.0 (114.5) 

Movement in other assets/liabilities  24.6 (64.1) 

Foreign exchange on operating activities  (1.6) (38.7) 

Investment return  (35.9) (18.1) 

Net cash flows from operating activities   177.5 (440.2) 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of equity and debt instruments  (1,657.0) (2,966.9) 

Sale of equity and debt instruments  1,468.1 2,722.7 

(Purchases)/sales of derivatives  (3.8) 0.9 

Investment income received  31.3 24.5 

Net cash flows from investing activities   (161.4) (218.8) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Distribution of profits  (46.4) (194.2) 

Profits added to Funds in Syndicate  159.2 194.2 

Release of Funds in Syndicate to member           (2.9) - 

Movement in non-standard personal expenses  (0.4) 4.9 

Net cash flows from financing activities   109.5 4.9 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    125.6 (654.1) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  134.8 786.0 

Foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents  (0.3) 2.9 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 14 260.1 134.8 
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1 Accounting policies, statement of compliance and basis of preparation 
 
1.1 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102 and FRS 103, being the applicable 
UK GAAP accounting standards, and in accordance with The Insurance Accounts Directive (Lloyd’s Syndicate 
and Aggregate Accounts) Regulations 2008 (The Regulations 2008), and where appropriate the provisions of 
Schedule 3 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 
(The Regulations) relating to insurance companies. 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the recognition of 
certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value. The annual basis of accounting has been applied to 
all classes of business written by the Syndicate. 
 
The Directors of the managing agent have prepared the annual accounts on the basis that the Syndicate will 
continue to write future business. The ability of the Syndicate to meet its obligations as they fall due is 
underpinned by the support provided by Lloyd’s solvency process and its chain of security for any members who 
are unable to meet their underwriting liabilities. 
 
All amounts are presented in rounded US$m to one decimal place, unless otherwise stated. 
 
1.2 Product classification 
 
Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk at the inception of the contract. 
Insurance risk is transferred when an insurer agrees to compensate a policyholder if a specified uncertain future 
event adversely affects the policyholder. The significance of insurance risk is dependent on both the probability 
of an insured event and the magnitude of its potential effect to the policyholder. 
 
Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the remainder 
of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period.  
 
1.3 Significant accounting policies 
 
1.3.1 Insurance contracts 
 

 The results for all classes of business have been determined on an annual basis whereby the incurred cost of 
claims, commission and related expenses are charged against the earned proportion of premium written, net of 
reinsurance as follows: 

 
a. Premiums 
 
Premiums written relate to business incepted during the year, together with any differences between booked 
premiums for prior years and those previously accrued, and include estimates of premiums due but not yet 
received or notified, less an allowance for cancellations. Premiums are accreted to the technical account on a 
pro rata basis over the term of the related policy, except for those contracts where the period of the risk differs 
significantly from the contract period. In these circumstances, premiums are recognised over the period of risk in 
proportion to the amount of insurance protection provided. Reinstatement premiums are accreted to the technical 
account on a pro rata basis over the term of the original policy to which it relates. Premiums are stated gross of 
commissions but net of premium taxes and other duties levied on premiums. 
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1 Accounting policies, statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 
b. Profit commissions 
 
Income arising from whole account quota share contracts is recognised when the economic benefits are highly 
probable. 
 
c. Deferred acquisitions costs 
 
Commission and other acquisition costs incurred during the financial period that are related to securing new 
insurance contracts and/or renewing existing insurance contracts, but which relate to subsequent financial 
periods, are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of future revenue margins. Deferred acquisition 
costs are capitalised and amortised over the life of the policy to which they relate on a basis consistent with the 
earnings pattern of that policy. 
 
d. Claims 
 
Claims incurred comprise claims and claims handling costs paid in the year and changes in the provisions for 
outstanding claims, including provisions for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) and related expenses, 
together with any adjustments to claims from prior years. Claims handling costs are mainly external costs related 
to the negotiation and settlement of claims. 
 
Claims outstanding represent the estimated ultimate cost of settling all claims (including direct and indirect claims 
settlement costs) arising from events which have occurred up to the date of the statement of financial position, 
including IBNR, less any amounts paid in respect of those claims. 
 
Claims provisions have been established on an individual class of business basis. The underwriting and 
management teams conduct a quarterly review of each class of business. Claims are projected to the ultimate 
position and provision is made for known claims and claims IBNR. 

 
Whilst the Directors consider that the estimate of claims outstanding is fairly calculated on the basis of the 
information currently available to them, there is inherent uncertainty in relation to the ultimate liability which will 
vary as a result of subsequent information and events. Adjustments to the amounts of the claims provisions 
established in prior years are reflected in the income statement for the period in which the adjustments are made. 
 
e. Provision for unearned premiums 
 
The proportion of written premiums that relate to unexpired terms of policies in force at the date of the statement 
of financial position is deferred as a provision for unearned premiums, generally calculated on a time apportioned 
basis. The movement in the provision is taken to the technical account in order that revenue is recognised over 
the period of the risk. 

 
f. Unexpired risks provision 
 
Provision is made for any deficiencies arising when unearned premiums, net of related deferred acquisition costs, 
are insufficient to meet expected claims and expenses after taking into account future investment return on the 
investments supporting the unearned premiums provision. The expected claims are calculated having regard to 
events that are relevant to the provision at the date of the statement of financial position. 

 
Unexpired risk surpluses and deficits are offset where business classes are managed together and a provision 
is made if an aggregate deficit arises. At 31 December 2019 the Syndicate did not have an unexpired risks 
provision (2018: US$ nil) 

 
g. Reinsurance 
 
The Syndicate assumes and cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business. Premiums and claims on 
reinsurance assumed are recognised in the income statement along the same basis as direct business, taking 
into account the product classification. Reinsurance premiums ceded and reinsurance recoveries on claims 
incurred are included in the respective expense and income accounts. Reinsurance outwards premiums are  
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1 Accounting policies, statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 
earned according to the nature of the cover. ‘Losses occurring during’ policies are earned evenly over the policy 
period. ‘Risks attaching’ policies are expensed on the same basis as the inwards business being protected. 
Reinstatement premiums on both inwards and outwards business are accreted to the income statement on a pro 
rata basis over the term of the original policy to which they relate. 
 
Reinsurance assets include amounts recoverable from reinsurance companies for paid and unpaid losses and 
loss adjustment expenses, and ceded unearned premiums. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are calculated 
with reference to the claims liability associated with the reinsured risks. Revenues and expenses arising from 
reinsurance agreements are therefore recognised with the underlying risk of the business reinsured. 
 
Gains or losses on buying reinsurance are recognised immediately in the Technical Account and not subject to 
amortisation. 

 
If a reinsurance asset is impaired the Syndicate reduces its carrying amount accordingly, and will immediately 
recognise the impairment loss in the Technical Account. A reinsurance asset will be deemed to be impaired if 
there is objective evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after initial recognition of that asset, that the 
Syndicate may not receive all amounts due to it under the terms of the contract, and that the event has a reliably 
measurable impact on the amounts that the Syndicate will receive from the reinsurer. 
 
h. Expenses 
 
The Managing Agent has charged the Syndicate a fixed fee and has borne all the management expenses of the 
Syndicate, other than those related to the direct cost of underwriting and investment management charges. 
Investment management charges are netted off against investment return, as disclosed in note 8. Any internal or 
external claims adjustment or settlement costs are included within gross claims paid.  
 
1.3.2 Investments 
 
a. Financial investments 
 
The Syndicate has designated on initial recognition its financial assets held for investment purposes 
(investments) at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). This is in accordance with the Syndicate’s documented 
investment strategy and consistent with investment risk being assessed on a portfolio basis. Information relating 
to investments is provided internally to the Directors of the Managing Agent and management personnel on a fair 
value basis.  
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in 
active markets (which are the principal markets or the most advantageous markets that maximise the amount 
that would be received to sell the asset or minimises the amount that would be paid to transfer the liability) is 
based on quoted market bid and ask price for both financial assets and financial liabilities respectively. 
 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market, including over-the-counter 
derivatives, is determined using valuation techniques. The Syndicate uses a variety of methods and makes 
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. Valuation techniques include 
the use of comparable recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the 
same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and others commonly used by market participants 
and which make the maximum use of observable inputs.  
 
Gains and losses on investments designated as FVTPL are recognised through the income statement. 
 
b. Investment return 
 
Investment return comprises all investment income, interest receivable, dividend income and realised and 
unrealised investment gains and losses. 
 
Realised gains and losses on investments carried at market value are calculated as the difference between sale 
proceeds and purchase price and are recognised when the sale transaction occurs. Unrealised gains and losses  
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1 Accounting policies, statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 
on investments represent the difference between the valuation at the date of the statement of financial position 
and their valuation at the previous statement of financial position, or purchase price if acquired during the year, 
together with the reversal of unrealised gains and losses recognised in earlier accounting periods in respect of 
investment disposals in the current period. 
 
Investment return is initially recorded in the non-technical account. A transfer is made from the non-technical 
account to the general business technical account to reflect the investment return on funds supporting 
underwriting business. All investment return is considered to arise on such funds except to the extent that 
investment income arises on Funds at Lloyd’s retained at the Syndicate level; that income remains in the non-
technical account. 
 
1.3.3 Measurement of other financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
Other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised at transaction price and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
 
1.3.4 Recognition and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Syndicate becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the contract. A financial asset is derecognised when either the contractual rights to the asset’s cash 
flows expire, or the asset is transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecognition under a combination of risks 
and rewards and control tests. 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished which is when the obligation in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. 
 
All ‘regular way purchases and sales’ of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the 
Syndicate commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases and sales are purchases and sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace.  
 
If the carrying value of an asset is impaired, it is reduced to the recoverable amount by an immediate charge to 
the income statement. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. 
 
1.3.5 Derivatives 
 
Derivative financial instruments typically include currency forward contracts, equity options, inflation options, 
futures, put options and interest rate swaps. Derivatives are initially and subsequently measured at their fair value 
with movements in the fair value being immediately recognised in the income statement. Fair values are obtained 
from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models, risk models and option pricing models as appropriate. 
All derivatives are carried as assets when the fair values are positive and as liabilities when the fair values are 
negative. 
 
1.3.6 Taxation 
 
Under Schedule 19 of the Finance Act 1993, Managing Agents are not required to deduct basic rate income tax 
from trading income. In addition, all UK basic rate income tax deducted from Syndicate investment income is 
recoverable by Managing Agents and consequently the distribution made to member or their members agents is 
gross of tax. Capital appreciation falls within trading income and is also distributed gross of tax. 
 
No provision has been made for any United States Federal Income Tax payable on underwriting results or 
investment earnings. Any payments on account made by the Syndicate during the year are included in the 
statement of financial position under the heading ‘Member’s balance’. 
 
No provision has been made for any overseas tax payable by the member on underwriting results. 
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1 Accounting policies, statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 
1.3.7 Pension costs 
 
Brit Group Services Limited operates a defined contribution pension scheme on behalf of the Managing Agent. 
Contributions are charged to the Syndicate within the fixed fee. 
 
1.3.8 Foreign currencies 
 
In accordance with FRS102, the functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the Syndicate operates. The functional currency for Syndicate 2987 is the United States dollar (US$). Items 
included in the annual accounts are measured using the functional currency which is also the Syndicate’s 
presentational currency. 
 
Unless otherwise stated, transactions in Sterling, Canadian dollars and Euros are translated into the functional 
currency at the average rates of exchange.  
 
Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the functional currency are translated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at 31 December of each year.  
 
Transactions in foreign currencies other than Sterling, US dollars, Canadian dollars and Euros are translated at 
the rate of exchange ruling at the date the transaction is processed. Exchange profits or losses arising on the 
translation of foreign currency amounts relating to the Syndicate insurance operations are included within the 
Non-technical account as prescribed by FRS 103.  
 
1.3.9 Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position only 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Various assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgements are regularly 
re-evaluated and are based on a combination of historical experience and other factors, including exposure 
analysis, expectations of future experience and expert judgement. 
 
2.1 Insurance contract liabilities 
 
The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is the Syndicate’s most 
critical accounting estimate. There are several sources of uncertainty that need to be considered in the estimate 
of the amounts that the Syndicate will ultimately pay to settle such claims. Significant areas requiring estimation 
and judgement include: 
 

• Estimates of the amount of any liability in respect of claims notified but not settled and incurred but not 
reported claims (IBNR) to be included within provisions for inwards insurance and reinsurance contracts; 

• The corresponding estimate of the amount of outwards reinsurance recoveries which will become due as a 
result of the estimated claims on inwards business; 

• The recoverability of amounts due from reinsurers; and 

• Estimates of the proportion of exposure which has expired in the period as represented by the earned 
proportion of premiums written. 

 
The assumptions used and the manner in which these estimates and judgements are made are set out below, 
including the reserving process for the estimation of gross, and net of reinsurance, ultimate premiums and claims: 
 

• Quarterly statistical data is produced in respect of gross and net premiums and claims (paid and incurred); 

• Projections of ultimate premiums, reinstatement premiums and claims are produced by the actuarial 
department using standard actuarial projection techniques (e.g. Basic Chain Ladder, Bornhuetter- 
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2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 

Ferguson, Initial Expected Loss Ratio). The Basic Chain Ladder and Bornhuetter-Ferguson projection 
methods are based on the key assumption that historical development of premiums and claims is 
representative of future development. Claims inflation is taken into account in the initial expected loss ratio 
selections but is otherwise assumed to be in line with historical inflation trends, unless explicit adjustments 
for other drivers of inflation such as legislative developments are deemed appropriate; 

• Some classes of business have characteristics which do not necessarily lend themselves easily to statistical 
estimation techniques e.g. due to low data volumes. In such cases, for example, a policy-by-policy review 
may also be carried out to supplement statistical estimates; 

• In the event of catastrophe losses, and prior to detailed claims information becoming available, claims 
provision estimates are compiled using a combination of output from specific recognised modelling software 
and detailed reviews of contracts exposed to the event in question. 

 
The estimates and judgements are applied in line with the overall reserving philosophy and seek to state the 
claims provisions on a best estimate, undiscounted basis. A management risk margin is also applied over and 
above the actuarial best estimate to allow for the inherent uncertainty within the best estimate reserve position. 
 
In addition to claims provisions, the reserve for future loss adjustment expenses is also subject to estimation with 
consideration being given to the level of internal and third party loss adjustment expenses incurred annually. The 
estimated loss adjustment expenses are expressed as a percentage of gross claims reserves and the 
reasonableness of the estimate is assessed through benchmarking. Further judgements are made as to the 
recoverability of amounts due from reinsurers. Provisions for bad debts are made specifically, based on the 
solvency of reinsurers, internal and external ratings, payment experience with them and any disputes of which 
the Syndicate is aware. 
 
2.2 Pipeline premium 
 
Written premiums include pipeline premium of US$735.6m (2018: US$626.9m) which represent future premiums 
receivable on in-force insurance contracts. Pipeline premium estimates are typically based on standard actuarial 
projection techniques (e.g. Basic Chain Ladder) at class level on the key assumption that historical development 
of premiums is representative of future development. 
 
2.3 Fair value of financial assets determined using valuation techniques 
 
Financial investments are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value. Determining the fair value of 
certain investments requires estimation techniques, using designated methodologies, estimations and 
assumptions. 
 
The Syndicate values investments using designated methodologies, estimations and assumptions. These 
securities, which are reported at fair value on the statement of financial position, represent the majority of the 
invested assets. The measurement basis for assets carried at fair value is categorised into a ‘fair value hierarchy’ 
in accordance with the valuation inputs and consistent with UK GAAP. 
 
The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(level one); the middle priority to fair values other than quoted prices based on observable market information 
(level two); and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs that reflect the assumptions that the Syndicate 
considers market participants would normally use (level three). To the extent that valuation is based on models 
or inputs that are unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value requires more judgement and 
accordingly, those instruments included in level three will require a greater degree of judgement to be exercised 
during valuation than for those included in level two or level one. 
 
The classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of significant input to its valuation. 
Any change to investment valuations may affect the Syndicate results of operations and reported financial 
condition. For further information, refer to note 10. 
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties  
 
3.1 Insurance risk 
 
Insurance risk arises from the possibility of an adverse financial result due to actual experience being different 
from that expected when an insurance product was designed and priced. The actual performance of insurance 
contracts is subject to the inherent uncertainty in the occurrence, timing and amount of the final insurance 
liabilities. This is the principal risk the Syndicate is exposed to as its primary function is to underwrite insurance  
contracts. The risk arises due to the possibility of insurance contracts being under-priced, under-reserved or 
subject to unforeseen catastrophe claims.  
 
The areas of insurance risk discussed below include: underwriting (including aggregate exposure management), 
reinsurance and reserving.  

a. Underwriting risk 

This is the risk that the insurance premiums will not be sufficient to cover the future losses and associated 
expenses. It arises from the fluctuations in the frequency and severity of financial losses incurred through the 
underwriting process by the Syndicate as a result of unpredictable events.  
 
The Syndicate is also exposed to the risks resulting from its underwriters accepting risks for premiums which are 
insufficient to cover the ultimate claims which result from such policies. Although premium rates have risen over 
the last two years, this follows a number of years of downwards pressure on premium rates and therefore this 
risk is considered to be high in the current underwriting environment. This trend in premium rates has been 
factored into the Syndicate’s pricing models and risk management tools and is continually monitored to assess 
whether any corrective action is required. Additional controls over the underwriting strategy are described in the 
section below. 
 
The Syndicate writes all of its business through Lloyd’s and therefore can take advantage of Lloyd’s centralised 
infrastructure and service support. Lloyd’s also has an established global distribution framework, with extensive 
licensing agreements providing the Syndicate access to over 200 territories. Exclusively using the Lloyd’s 
platform subjects the Syndicate to a number of resulting underwriting risks. 
 
(i) Controls over underwriting strategy 
 
The BSL Board sets the Syndicate’s underwriting strategy for accepting and managing underwriting risk. The 
Underwriting Committee, chaired by the Chief Underwriting Officer, meets regularly to drive the underwriting 
strategy and to monitor performance against the plans. The assessment of underwriting performance is all-
encompassing applying underwriting KPIs, technical pricing management information (MI), premium monitoring, 
delegated underwriting operations and claims. The risks are managed by the committee in line with the 
underwriting risk policy and within the risk tolerance set by the Board. The underwriting risk policy also sets out 
a number of controls, which are summarised below. 
 
The Managing Agent carries out a detailed annual business planning process for each of the Syndicate’s 
underwriting units. The resulting plans set out premium, territorial and aggregate limits and reinsurance protection 
thresholds for all classes of business and represent a key tool in managing concentration risk. Performance 
against the plans is monitored on a regular basis by the Underwriting Committee as well as by the Board. A 
dedicated Risk Aggregation team also performs analysis including realistic disaster scenario (RDS) analysis on 
a regular basis to ensure that the Syndicate’s net losses remain within its risk appetite. 
 
The Managing Agent has developed underwriting guidelines, limits of authority and business plans for the 
Syndicate which are binding upon all staff authorised to underwrite. These are detailed and specific to 
underwriters and classes of business. Gross and net line size limits are in place for each class of business with 
additional restrictions in place on catastrophe exposed business. 
 
A proportion of the Syndicate’s insurance risks are written by third parties under delegated underwriting 
authorities, with the remaining being written through individual risk acceptances or through reinsurance treaties. 
The third parties are closely vetted in advance and are subject to tight reporting requirements. In addition, the  
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 
performance of these contracts is closely monitored by underwriters and other departments with regular audits 
being carried out. 
 
The technical pricing framework ensures that the pricing process in the Syndicate is appropriate. It ensures 
pricing methodologies are demonstrable and transparent and that technical (or benchmark) prices are assessed 
for each risk. The underwriting and actuarial functions work together to maintain the pricing models and assess 
the difference between technical price and actual price. The framework also ensures that sufficient data is 
recorded and checked by underwriters to enable the Syndicate to maintain an effective rate monitoring process. 
 
Compliance is checked through both a peer review process and, periodically, by the Managing Agent’s Internal 
Audit department which is entirely independent of the underwriting units. 
 
In order to limit risk, the number of reinstatements per policy generally is limited, deductibles are imposed and 
policy exclusions are applied. 
 
 (ii) Underwriting risk profile 

 
The core insurance portfolio of property, marine, energy and casualty (including liability) covers a variety of largely 
uncorrelated events and also provides some protection against the underwriting cycle as different classes are at 
different points in the underwriting cycle. The underwriting portfolio is managed to target top quartile underwriting 
performance and the mix of business is continually adjusted based on the current environment (including the 
current pricing strength of each class). This assessment is conducted as part of the business planning which 
operates annually and ongoing strategy process and uses inputs from the technical pricing framework. The 
business plan is approved by the BSL Board and is monitored monthly by the Underwriting Committee. 
 
(iii) Geographical concentration of premium 
 
The Syndicate enters into policies with policyholders from all over the world, with the underlying risk relating to 
premiums spread worldwide. This allows the Syndicate to benefit from a wide geographic diversification of risk. 
The principal location of the Syndicate’s policyholders is the United States. The concentration of insurance 
premium before and after reinsurance by the location of the underlying risk is summarised below: 

 

Premiums written Gross Net 

2019  US$m  US$m 

United States  1,192.4 723.5 

United Kingdom 139.7 83.7 

Europe (excluding UK) 69.0 39.2 

Other (including worldwide) 861.3 548.7 

Total 2,262.4 1,395.1 

   

Premiums written Gross Net 

2018  US$m  US$m 

United States  1,002.0 613.1 

United Kingdom 138.4 28.1 

Europe (excluding UK) 93.5 46.1 

Other (including worldwide) 975.9 556.7 

Total 2,209.8 1,244.0 
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 
The nature of the London Market business is such that the insureds and reinsureds are often operating on a 
multi-territory or worldwide basis and hence coverage is often provided on a worldwide basis. Premiums written 
on a multi-territory or worldwide basis are included in ‘Other’ in the table above. 
 
(iv) Portfolio mix 
 
The Syndicate’s breakdown of gross premium written by principal categories is summarised below: 

  2019 2018 

Gross premium written US$m % US$m % 

Short-Tail Direct 
insurance 

Property, Marine, Energy, Accident & 
Health, BGSU, Aviation, Terrorism and 
Political 

1,153.9 51 1,251.6 57 

Long-Tail Direct 
insurance 

Professional lines, Specialty Lines, 
Specialist Liability 

570.8 25 506.4 23 

Short-Tail Reinsurance Property Treaty 233.1 10 209.4 9 

Long-Tail Reinsurance Casualty Treaty 304.6 14 242.4 11 

Total   2,262.4 100 2,209.8 100 

 
The Syndicate underwrites a business mix of both insurance and reinsurance, long and short tailed business 
across a number of geographic areas which results in a diversification of the Syndicate’s portfolio. The business 
mix is monitored on an ongoing basis with particular focus on the short tail vs. long tail split and the proportion of 
delegated underwriting business. Long tail business is currently 39% of the portfolio as at 31 December 2019 
(2018: 34%) and delegated underwriting represents 42% (2018: 41%). Underwriting risk is mainly driven by US 
catastrophe exposure. Casualty Treaty is also a driver due to its long-tail exposure. 
 
(v) Aggregate exposure management 
 

The Syndicate is exposed to potential large claims from natural catastrophe events. The catastrophe risk 
tolerances are defined by Syndicate 2987’s risk appetite framework. These are reviewed and set by the Board 
on an annual basis. 
 
For example, the Syndicate has a tolerance of 20% of Brit Limited Group Net Tangible Assets for major 
catastrophe events (as defined by World Wide All Perils 1-in-30 Aggregate Exceedance Probability (AEP)). This 
tolerance is set annually based on the Net Tangible Assets at the beginning of the year and equates to a 
maximum acceptable 1-in-30 AEP modelled loss (after all reinsurance) of US$198.6m as at 31 December 2019. 
This is in addition to other tolerances set within the catastrophe risk appetite framework. 
 

The Syndicate closely monitors aggregation of exposure to natural catastrophe events against agreed risk 
appetites using stochastic catastrophe modelling tools, along with knowledge of the business, historical loss 
information, and geographical accumulations. Analysis and monitoring also measures the effectiveness of the 
Syndicate’s reinsurance programmes. Stress and scenario tests are also run, such as Lloyd’s and internally 
developed Realistic Disaster Scenarios (RDS).  
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
  
Below are the key RDS losses to the Syndicate for all classes combined (in US$ millions) (Unaudited): 

 

Lloyd’s Prescribed RDS Event Estimated 
    Modelled 

Syndicate Loss 
  Modelled 

Syndicate Loss 

 Industry    2019(i)    2018(i) 

US$ millions Loss Gross Net Gross Net 

Gulf of Mexico Windstorm  111,000 820 107 811 141 

Florida Miami Windstorm 131,000 861 93 986 101 

US North East Windstorm 81,000 838 104 788 116 

San Francisco Earthquake 80,000 1,031 138 1,071 210 

Japan Earthquake 73,369 284 101 246 103 

Japan Windstorm 15,591 71 30 62 24 

European Windstorm 26,847 89 39 165 85 

(i):  At 31 December 2019 foreign exchange rates. 
 
Actual results may differ materially from the losses above given the significant uncertainties within model 
assumptions, techniques and simulations applied to calculate these event loss estimates. There could also be 
unmodelled losses which result in actual losses exceeding these figures. Moreover, the portfolio of insured risks 
changes dynamically over time.  
 
(vi) Sensitivity to changes in net claims ratio 
 

The Syndicate result for the financial year is sensitive to an independent 1% change in the net claims ratio by 
class of business as follows: 
 
 

Change in reported result  2019  2018 

by category of business US$m % US$m % 

Short-Tail Direct insurance  8.2 59 8.3 67 

Long-Tail Direct insurance 2.3 17 1.2 10 

Short-Tail Reinsurance 0.9 7 0.9 7 

Long-Tail Reinsurance 2.3 17 2.0 16 

Total 13.7 100 12.4 100 

 
The impact on the member’s balance would be the same as that on the result following a change in the net claims 
ratio. 
 
b. Reinsurance risk 
 
The Syndicate purchases reinsurance to manage exposure to individual risks and aggregation of risks arising 
from individual large claims and catastrophe events. This allows the Syndicate to mitigate exposure to insurance 
losses against the risk appetite, reduce volatility of reported results and protect capital. 
 
Quota share reinsurance is purchased to provide protection against claims arising either from individual large 
claims or aggregation of losses. Quota share reinsurance is also used to manage the Syndicate‘s net exposure 
to classes of business where the Syndicate’s risk appetite is lower than the efficient operating scale of the class 
of business on a gross of reinsurance basis. These placements are reviewed on the basis of market conditions. 
 
The Syndicate also has in place a comprehensive programme of excess of loss reinsurances to protect itself 
from severe size or frequency of losses: 
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 

 (i) Facultative reinsurance is used to reduce risk relating to individual contracts. The amount of cover bought 
varies by class of business. Facultative reinsurance is also used as a tool to manage the net line size on 
individual risks to within tolerance. 

(ii) Risk excess of loss reinsurance is used to protect a range of individual inwards contracts which could give 
rise to individual large claims. The optimal net retention per risk is assessed for each class of business given 
the Syndicate’s risk appetite during the business planning exercise. 

(iii) An aggregate catastrophe excess of loss cover is in place to protect the Syndicate against combined property 
claims from multiple policies resulting from catastrophe events. This is supplemented by specific covers for 
peril regions, catastrophe swaps and industry loss warranties where they are a cost-efficient means to ensure 
that the Syndicate remains within its catastrophe risk appetite. 

 
Given the fundamental importance of reinsurance protection to the Syndicate’s risk management, the Managing 
Agent has in place internal controls and processes to ensure that the reinsurance arrangements provide 
appropriate protection of capital and maintain our ability to meet policyholder obligations. The Head of Outwards 
Reinsurance, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Underwriting Officer and Chief Risk Officer/Chief Actuary 
propose external reinsurance arrangements with input from class underwriters for class level reinsurance. All 
reinsurance purchases are reviewed by the Outward Reinsurance Committee. The Head of Outwards 
Reinsurance monitors and reports on the purchase of reinsurance protections. 
 
The Syndicate remains exposed to a number of risks relating to its reinsurance programme: 
 

• It is possible for extremely severe catastrophe losses to exhaust the reinsurance purchased. Any losses 
exceeding the reinsurance protection would be borne by the Syndicate.  

• Some parts of the programme have limited reinstatements which limit the amount that may be 
recovered from second or subsequent claims. If the entirety of the cover is exhausted, it may not be 
possible to purchase additional reinsurance at a reasonable price. 

• A dispute may arise with a reinsurer which may mean the recoveries received are lower than 
anticipated. 

These risks are managed through a combination of techniques and controls including risk aggregation 
management, capital modelling and internal actuarial review of outward reinsurance costs. The counterparty risk 
in relation to reinsurance purchased is managed by the Credit Committee. This is further discussed in the Credit 
risk section below. 
 
c. Reserving risk 
 
Reserving risk arises where the actual cost of losses for policyholder obligations incurred before 31 December 
2019 may differ from the established reserves due to inaccurate assumptions or unforeseen circumstances. This 
is a key risk for the Syndicate as the reserves for unpaid losses represent the largest component of the 
Syndicate’s liabilities and are inherently uncertain. The BSL Reserving Committee is responsible for the 
management of the Syndicate’s reserving risk.  
 
The Syndicate has a rigorous process for establishing reserves for insurance claim liabilities and a number of 
controls are used to mitigate reserving risk. The reserving process starts with controls over claims data which 
ensure complete and accurate recording of all paid and notified claims. Claims adjusters validate policy terms 
and conditions, adjust claims and investigate suspicious or disputed claims in accordance with the Syndicate’s 
claims policy. Case reserves are set for notified claims using the experience of specialist claims adjusters, 
underwriters and external experts where necessary.  
 
Whilst the case reserve is expected to be sufficient to meet the claims amount when it is settled, incurred but not 
reported (IBNR) claims require additional reserves. This is particularly the case for the longest tailed classes of 
business where the final settlement can occur several years after the claim occurred. Actuarial triangulation 
techniques are employed by the Syndicate’s experienced actuaries to establish the IBNR reserve.  
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 
These techniques project IBNR reserves based on historical development of paid and incurred claims by 
underwriting year. For the most uncertain claims, the triangulation techniques are supplemented by additional 
methods to ensure the established reserve is appropriate. The actuarial team work closely with other business 
functions such as underwriting, claims and risk aggregation to ensure that they have a full understanding of the 
emerging claims experience across the Syndicate. 
 
The Syndicate’s reserving policy sets out the approach to estimating claims provisions and is designed to produce 
accurate and reliable estimates that are consistent over time and across classes of business. The actuarial best 
estimate set out in the policy is subject to sign-off by the Reserving Committee, as part of the formal governance 
arrangements for the Syndicate. The estimate agreed by the committees is used as a basis for the Syndicate 
financial statements. A management risk margin is also applied over and above the actuarial best estimate to 
allow for the inherent uncertainty within the best estimate reserve position and wider inherent uncertainty across 
the economic and insurance environment. This margin increases the reserves reflected in the Syndicate financial 
statements above the mean expectation. Finally, the reserves in the financial statements are presented to the 
Audit Committee for recommendation to the BSL Board who are responsible for the final sign-off. As part of their 
audit engagement, reserves are subject to external actuarial review by the Syndicate’s auditors. 
 
The reserves can be more or less than is required to meet the claims arising from earned business. The level of 
uncertainty varies significantly between the classes written by the Syndicate but typically is highest for those 
classes where there are significant delays in the settlement of the final claim amount. More specifically, the key 
areas of uncertainty within the Syndicate’s reserves are considered to be claims from the long-tailed direct and 
reinsurance classes. The issues contributing to this high uncertainty are common to all entities which write such 
business. 
 
3.2 Liquidity risk 
 
This is the risk the Syndicate may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The predominant liquidity risk the Syndicate faces 
is the daily calls on its available cash resources in respect of claims arising from insurance contracts. 
 
The Managing Agent monitors the levels of cash and cash equivalents on a daily basis, ensuring adequate 
liquidity to meet the expected cash flow requirements due over the short-term.    
 
The Syndicate also limits the amount of investment in illiquid securities in line with the investment policy set by 
the Board. This involves ensuring sufficient liquidity to withstand claim scenarios at the extreme end of business 
plan projections, by reference to modelled RDS. Contingent liquidity also exists in the form of the Group’s 
revolving credit facility 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Notes to the Accounts 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 
Brit Syndicate 2987    Annual Report 2019                                                                                                                               28
   

3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 

The tables below present the fair value of monetary assets and the undiscounted value of monetary liabilities of 
the Syndicate into their relevant maturing groups based on the remaining period at the end of the year to their 
contractual maturities or expected repayment dates. 

As at 31 December 2019 
Up to a 

year 
1-3 years 3-5 years 

Over 5 
years  

Equities Total 

Assets (fair values) US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m 

Reinsurance assets 565.2 621.9 345.3 437.3 - 1,969.7 

Financial investments 1,497.0 78.7 38.8 60.6 330.3 2,005.4 

Derivative contracts 1.2 - - 0.3 - 1.5 

Insurance receivables 1,112.8 0.3 - - - 1,113.1 

Cash at bank and in hand 31.1 - - - - 31.1 

Other 93.7 125.3 31.4 2.6 - 253.0 

Total 3,301.0 826.2 415.5 500.8 330.3 5,373.8 
       

       

Liabilities (undiscounted 
values) 

Up to a 
year 

US$m 
1-3 years 

US$m 
3-5 years 

US$m 

Over 5 
years  
US$m 

Equities 
US$m 

Total 
US$m 

Insurance contract 
liabilities 1,184.4 1,310.3 747.3 1,032.9 - 4,274.9 

Derivative contracts 12.4 - - - - 12.4 
Insurance & other 
payables 670.2 - - - - 670.2 

Total 1,867.0 1,310.3 747.3 1,032.9 - 4,957.5 

 
 
        

As at 31 December 2018 
Up to a 

year 
1-3 years 3-5 years 

Over 5 
years  

Equities Total 

Assets (fair values) US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m 

Reinsurance assets 612.6 633.5 351.4 470.8 - 2,068.3 

Financial investments 722.5 577.0 76.1 18.0 260.0 1,653.6 

Derivative contracts 12.8 - - 0.7 - 13.5 

Insurance receivables 961.4 0.8 - - - 962.2 

Cash at bank and in hand 25.0 - - - - 25.0 

Other 101.0 137.9 35.3 3.0 - 277.2 

Total 2,435.3 1,349.2 462.8 492.5 260.0 4,999.8 

       

Liabilities (undiscounted 
values) 

Up to a 
year 

US$m 
1-3 years 

US$m 
3-5 years 

US$m 

Over 5 
years  
US$m 

Equities 
US$m 

Total 
US$m 

Insurance contract 
liabilities 1,211.2 1,317.2 739.3 1,053.9 - 4,321.6 

Derivative contracts 2.8 - - - - 2.8 
Insurance & other 
payables 475.4 - - - - 475.4 

Total 1,689.4 1,317.2 739.3 1,053.9 - 4,799.8 

 
*Note: the tables above exclude provisions for unearned premiums and deferred acquisition costs as, although 
monetary assets and monetary liabilities under FRS103, these are not considered to be sensitive to liquidity risk 



Notes to the Accounts 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 
Brit Syndicate 2987    Annual Report 2019                                                                                                                               29
   

3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 
3.3 Credit risk 
 
This is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation. The main sources of credit risk relate to: 

• Reinsurers: through the failure to pay valid claims against a reinsurance contract held by the Syndicate; 

• Brokers and coverholders: where counterparties fail to pass on premiums or claims collected or paid on 
behalf of the Syndicate; 

• Investments: through the issuer default of all or part of the value of a financial instrument or derivative 
financial instrument; and 

• Cash and cash equivalents: through the default of the banks holding the cash and cash equivalents. 

The insurance and non-insurance related counterparty credit risks are managed separately by the Syndicate. 
 
a. Investments credit risk 
 
(i) Investment credit risk management process  
 
The Investment Committee is responsible for the management of investment credit risk. The Investment 
Guidelines and Investment Policy set out clear limits and controls around the level of investment credit risk. The 
Syndicate has established concentration guidelines that restrict the exposure to any individual counterparty. The 
investment guidelines further limit the type, credit quality and maturity profile of both the Syndicate’s cash and 
investments. In addition, the investment risk framework further limits potential exposure to credit risk through 
monitoring of the aggregate investment risk limits. 
 
(ii) Investment credit risk profile 
 
The summary of the investment credit risk exposures for the Syndicate is set out in the tables below: 

US$m AAA AA A P-1 P-2 

BBB 
and 

below Equities 
Not 

Rated Total 

                    

As at 31 December 2019          

Financial Investments 1,047.5 263.1 213.0 - - 122.0 322.9 36.9 2,005.4 
Derivative contracts - - - - - - -   1.5 1.5 
Cash at bank -   3.6 27.5 - - - - - 31.1 
Other    122.2 29.0 24.7 - - 26.4 - 41.3 243.6 

Total 1,169.7 295.7 265.2 - - 148.4 322.9 79.7 2,281.6 

          

US$m AAA AA A P-1 P-2 

BBB 
and 

below Equities 
Not 

Rated Total 

                    

As at 31 December 2018          

Financial Investments 1,052.9 104.2 95.4 - - 89.4 260.0 51.7 1,653.6 
Derivative contracts - - - - - - - 13.5 13.5 
Cash at bank - 7.1 6.7 - - 11.2 - - 25.0 
Other 141.8 28.9 25.6 1.1 - 19.6 - 51.1 268.1 

Total 1,194.7 140.2 127.7 1.1 - 120.2 260.0 116.3 1,960.2 
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 
b. Insurance credit risk 
 
(i) Insurance credit risk management process  

 
The Credit Committee, chaired by the Brit Group Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for the management of 
credit risk arising from insurance activities.  
 
Reinsurer credit risk is managed by transacting only with reinsurance counterparties that satisfy a minimum level 
of financial strength or provide appropriate levels of collateral, and have been approved for use by the Credit 
Committee. The reinsurer security list, which sets out the list of approved reinsurance counterparties, is reviewed 
at least annually and following any significant change in risk profile, which includes any changes to reinsurers' 
financial ratings. Credit risk appetite limits are set for reinsurance entities and groups to limit accumulations of 
risk. These positions are monitored quarterly against current statement of financial position exposures and in 
relation to a number of extreme loss scenarios. 
 
Reinsurance aged debt is monitored and managed against the management risk appetite limits set by the Credit 
Committee. A bad debt provision is held against all non-rated reinsurers or any reinsurer where there is deemed 
to be a specific risk of non-payment. 
 
Any breaches of credit risk tolerance and/or appetite are reported to the Risk Oversight Committee and the Board 
on at least a quarterly basis. 
 
(ii) Insurance credit risk profile 
 
The summary of the insurance credit risk exposures for the Syndicate is set out in the tables below: 

 
 

US$m AAA AA A Collateral Not rated Total 

As at 31 December 2019       
Reinsurer's share of claims 
outstanding 

3.4 467.2 313.7 1,102.0      83.4 1,969.7 

Insurance and reinsurance 
receivables 

- - - - 1,113.1 1,113.1 

Total 3.4 467.2 313.7 1,102.0 1,196.5 3,082.8 

       
As at 31 December 2018       
Reinsurer's share of claims 
outstanding 

2.7 424.8 374.5 1,186.4 79.9 2,068.3 

Insurance and reinsurance 
receivables 

- - - - 962.2 962.2 

Total 2.7 424.8 374.5 1,186.4 1,042.1 3,030.5 

 
Insurance credit risk arises primarily from reinsurers (whereby reinsurers fail to pay recoveries due to the 
Syndicate in a timely manner) and brokers and coverholders (whereby intermediaries fail to pass on premiums 
due to the Syndicate in a timely manner). 
  
Collateral of US$1,453.6m (2018: US$1,398.9m) is held in third party trust accounts or as a letter of credit (LOC) 
to guarantee Syndicate 2987 against reinsurance counterparties and is available for immediate drawdown in the 
event of a default. As at 31 December 2019 US$1,102.0m (2018: US$1,186.4m) of amounts recoverable from 
reinsurers were protected by cash and cash equivalents held in third party trust accounts or by LOC’s. 
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 
The following table shows movements in impairment provisions during the year: 
 

US$m 

Provision against 
Reinsurance 

Assets 

Provision 
against 

Insurance 
Receivables 

2019 

At 1 January 2019 - 10.9 

Strengthening for the year - 0.5 

Net foreign exchange differences - (0.1) 

At 31 December 2019 - 11.3 

 

2018 

At 1 January 2018 0.7 10.5 

(Release)/strengthening for the year (0.7) 0.5 

Net foreign exchange differences - (0.1) 

At 31 December 2018 - 10.9 

 
The following table shows the amount of insurance receivables that were past due but not impaired at the end of 
the year: 
 

 

2019 2018 

US$m US$m 

0-3 months past due 16.2 50.4 

4-6 months past due 29.7 11.2 

7-9 months past due 0.6 3.8 

10-12 months past due 0.4 1.4 

More than 12 months past due 2.5 1.8 

Total 49.4 68.6 

 
3.4 Market risk 
 
This is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 
Credit risk on financial investments and cash is covered in the credit risk section. 
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 
a. Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk that movements in exchange rates impact the financial performance or solvency position 
of the Syndicate. The split of assets and liabilities for each of the Syndicate’s main currencies, converted to US 
dollars, is set out in the tables below: 

 

Converted US$m UK £ US $ CAD $ EUR € Total 

As at 31 December 2019           

Total assets 1,186.7 3,935.9 655.3 237.9 6,015.8 

Total liabilities (1,001.4) (4,289.0) (333.8) (305.8) (5,930.0) 

Net assets excluding the effect of 
currency derivatives 185.3 (353.1) 321.5 (67.9) 85.8 

Adjustment for foreign exchange derivatives (206.0) 389.9 (263.7) 79.8 - 

Adjusted net assets/(liabilities) (20.7) 36.8 57.8 11.9 85.8 

      

Converted US$m UK £ US $ CAD $ EUR € Total 

As at 31 December 2018           

Total assets 1,193.2 3,585.5 557.5 258.9 5,595.1 

Total liabilities (970.3) (4,135.5) (278.2) (325.3) (5,709.3) 

Net assets excluding the effect of 
currency derivatives 222.9 (550.0) 279.3 (66.4) (114.2) 

Adjustment for foreign exchange derivatives (236.7) 391.2 (235.8) 81.3 - 

Adjusted net assets/(liabilities) (13.8) (158.8) 43.5 14.9 (114.2) 

 
The non-US dollar denominated net assets of the Syndicate may lead to profit or losses (depending on the mix 
relative to the liabilities), should the US dollars vary relative to these currencies. 
 
The Syndicate manages its exposure in each of the main four currencies and the net asset position is rebalanced 
periodically. Where mismatches occur these may lead to FX gains and losses reported through the income 
statement. 
 
Foreign currency forward contracts may be used to achieve the desired exposure to each currency. From time 
to time the Syndicate may also choose to utilise foreign currency derivatives manage the risk of reported losses 
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The degree to which derivatives are used is dependent on the 
prevailing cost versus the perceived benefit to the Syndicate from reducing the chance of a reported loss due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The details of all foreign currency derivatives contracts entered into are given 
in Note 11. 
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b. Sensitivity to changes in foreign exchange rates 

 
The table below gives an indication of the impact on result of a percentage movement in the relative strength of 
the US dollar against the value of the Sterling, Canadian dollar, Euro and Australian dollar simultaneously, after 
taking into consideration the effect of hedged positions. The analysis is based on the information at 31 December 
of each year end: 

 

 US$m 
Impact on result for the financial 

year and net assets 

  2019 2018 

US dollar weakens   

10% against other currencies 4.9 4.5 

20% against other currencies 9.8 9.1 

US dollar strengthens   

10% against other currencies (4.9) (4.5) 

20% against other currencies (9.8) (9.1) 
 
c. Interest rate risk and price risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value and/or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in interest rates. The Syndicate is exposed to interest rate risk through its investment 
portfolio, borrowings and cash and cash equivalents. The sensitivity of the price of these financial exposures is 
indicated by their respective durations. This is defined as the modified duration which is the change in the price 
of the security subject to a 100 basis points parallel shift in interest rates. The greater the duration of a security, 
the greater the possible price volatility. 
 
Insurance liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis and therefore the reported liabilities are not sensitive 
to changes in interest rates. 
 
The banded durations of the Syndicate’s financial instruments and cash and cash equivalents sensitive to 
interest-rate risk are shown in the table below: 
 
 

US$m 1 year or 1 to 3 3 to 5 Over 5 Equities Total 

As at 31 December 2019 less years years years     

Financial investments 1,497.1 78.7 38.8 60.6 330.2 2,005.4 

Cash at bank and in hand 31.1 - - - - 31.1 

Derivatives 1.2 - - 0.3 - 1.5 

Other assets 84.3 125.3 31.4 2.6 - 243.6 

Total 1,613.7 204.0 70.2 63.5 330.2 2,281.6 

       

US$m 1 year or 1 to 3 3 to 5 Over 5 Equities Total 

As at 31 December 2018 less years years years     

Financial investments 722.5 577.0 76.1 18.0 260.0 1,653.6 

Cash at bank and in hand 25.0 - - - - 25.0 

Derivatives 12.8 - - 0.7 - 13.5 

Other assets 91.9 137.9 35.3 3.0 - 268.1 

Total 852.2 714.9 111.4 21.7 260.0 1,960.2 
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 
 
The Syndicate takes into account the duration of its required capital, targeting an investment portfolio duration 
that, under a variation in interest rates, preserves the solvency ratio of the Syndicate. The duration of the 
investment portfolio is then set within an allowable range relative to the targeted duration. This is achieved by the 
use of interest rate derivatives. 
 
d. Sensitivity to changes in investment yields 

 
The sensitivity of the result and net assets to changes in the investment yields is set out in the table below. 

 

US$m 

                        Impact on result for 
                        financial year 

2019 2018 

Increase   

25 basis points (5.4) (4.2) 

50 basis points (10.9) (8.4) 

100 basis points (21.8) (16.9) 

Decrease   

25 basis points 5.4 4.2 

50 basis points 10.9 8.4 

100 basis points 21.8 16.9 
 
3.5 Capital risk management 
 
Capital framework at Lloyd’s 
 
The Society of Lloyd’s (Lloyd’s) is a regulated undertaking and subject to the supervision of the Prudential 
Regulatory Authority (PRA) under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, and in accordance with the 
Solvency II framework. 
 
Within this supervisory framework, Lloyd’s applies capital requirements at member level and centrally to ensure 
that Lloyd’s complies with Solvency II, and beyond that to meet its own financial strength, licence and ratings 
objectives. 
 
Although, as described below, Lloyd’s capital setting processes use a capital requirement set at syndicate level 
as a starting point, the requirement to meet Solvency II and Lloyd’s capital requirements apply at overall and 
member level respectively, not at syndicate level. Accordingly the capital requirement in respect of Syndicate 
2987 is not disclosed in these financial statements. 
 
Lloyd’s capital setting process 
 
In order to meet Lloyd’s requirements, each syndicate is required to calculate its Solvency Capital Requirement 
(SCR) for the prospective underwriting year. This amount must be sufficient to cover a 1 in 200 year loss, 
reflecting uncertainty in the ultimate run-off of underwriting liabilities (SCR to ultimate). The syndicate must also 
calculate its SCR at the same confidence level but reflecting uncertainty over a one year time horizon (one year 
SCR) for Lloyd’s to use in meeting Solvency II requirements. The SCRs of each syndicate are subject to review 
by Lloyd’s and approval by the Lloyd’s Capital and Planning Group. 
 
A syndicate may be comprised of one or more underwriting members of Lloyd’s. Each member is liable for its 
own share of underwriting liabilities on the syndicate(s) on which it participates but not other members’ shares. 
Accordingly, the capital requirement that Lloyd’s sets for each member operates on a similar basis. Each 
member’s SCR shall thus be determined by the sum of the member’s share of the syndicate SCR to ultimate. 
Where a member participates on more than one syndicate, a credit for diversification is provided to reflect the  
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3 Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 

spread of risk, but consistent with determining an SCR which reflects the capital requirement to cover a 1 in 200 
year loss to ultimate for that member. Over and above this, Lloyd’s applies a capital uplift to the member’s capital 
requirement, known as the Economic Capital Assessment (ECA). The purpose of this uplift, which is a Lloyd’s 
not a Solvency II requirement, is to meet Lloyd’s financial strength, licence and ratings objectives. The capital 
uplift applied for 2019 was 35% of the member’s SCR to ultimate. 

Provision of capital by members 
 
Each member may provide capital to meet its ECA either by assets held in trust by Lloyd’s specifically for that 
member (funds at Lloyd’s), held within and managed within a syndicate (funds in syndicate) or as the member’s 
share of the members’ balances on each syndicate on which it participates. 
 
Accordingly all of the assets less liabilities of the Syndicate, as represented in the member balances reported on 
the statement of financial position on page 14, represent resources available to meet member and Lloyd’s capital 
requirements. 
 
Capital calculation 
 
The SCR to Ultimate is calculated using a stochastic risk-based capital model developed by the Brit Group which 
allows the Board of the Managing Agent to identify an appropriate level of capital required. This capital 
requirement is specific to the actual reserving history, reinsurance programme and business profile of Syndicate 
2987 rather than being based on company market averages. The Board of the Managing Agent reviews and 
approves all capital modelling submissions to Lloyd’s. 
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4 Analysis of underwriting result 
 
An analysis of the underwriting result before investment return is set out below: 

 

Year ended 31 December 2019 

Gross 
premiums 

written  

Gross 
premiums 

earned 

Gross 
claims 

incurred 

Gross 
operating 
expenses 

Reinsurance 
balance Total 

  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m 

Direct Insurance:       

Accident and health 38.7 39.1 (20.6) (13.3) (3.8) 1.4 

Motor (other classes) - - 0.1 - (0.1) - 

Marine aviation and transport 128.3 158.5 (107.7) (45.2) (1.6) 4.0 
Fire and other damage to 
property 518.3 489.2 (264.5) (158.7) (63.3) 2.7 

Third party liability 474.5 472.0 (259.0) (124.2) (89.3) (0.5) 

Miscellaneous 117.4 125.0 (60.6) (45.8) (12.3) 6.3 

Direct Insurance 1,277.2 1,283.8 (712.3) (387.2) (170.4) 13.9 

Reinsurance 985.2 922.6 (556.2) (318.8) (28.0) 19.6 

Total 2,262.4 2,206.4 (1,268.5) (706.0) (198.4) 33.5 

       

Year ended 31 December 2018 

Gross 
premiums 

written   

Gross 
premiums 

earned 

Gross 
claims 

incurred 

Gross 
operating 
expenses 

Reinsurance 
balance Total 

  US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m 

Direct Insurance:       

Accident and health 41.4 42.5 (26.2) (14.2) (4.7) (2.6) 

Motor (other classes) - - 1.2 - (0.8) 0.4 

Marine aviation and transport 210.6 224.2 (183.8) (68.1) 7.7 (20.0) 

Fire and other damage to 
property 483.7 460.5 (331.7) (155.0) 14.3 (11.9) 

Third party liability 460.5 450.3 (288.3) (119.7) (10.5) 31.8 

Miscellaneous 137.1 127.3 (72.1) (55.3) 1.2 1.1 

Direct Insurance 1,333.3 1,304.8 (900.9) (412.3) 7.2 (1.2) 

Reinsurance 876.5 878.4 (710.2) (301.8) 77.9 (55.7) 

Total 2,209.8 2,183.2 (1,611.1) (714.1) 85.1 (56.9) 

 
Commissions on direct insurance gross premiums written during 2019 were US$336.8m (2018: US$356.4m). 
 
All premiums were concluded in the UK. 
 
Amounts disclosed as ‘Reinsurance’ in the table above include inwards facultative reinsurance which is 
presented within the Brit Global Speciality Direct segment in the following tables.    
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4 Analysis of underwriting result (continued) 
 
The geographical analysis of premiums by the location of the underlying risk is as follows: 

 
 

 

2019 2018 

US$m US$m 

United States                    1,192.4  1,002.0 
United Kingdom                       139.7  138.4 
Europe (excluding UK)                         69.0  93.5 

Other (including worldwide)                       861.3  975.9 

Total 2,262.4 2,209.8 

 
The analysis of technical result by Brit segment is as follows: 

 

Year ended 31 December 2019 
Brit Global 

Specialty Direct 
Brit Global Specialty 

Reinsurance  Total 

  US$m US$m US$m 

Gross premiums written 1,724.7 537.7 2,262.4 

Net premiums written 1,041.0 354.1 1,395.1 

Net premiums earned 1,045.9 325.9 1,371.8 

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance (514.0) (195.7) (709.7) 

Net operating expenses (512.1) (116.5) (628.6) 

Underwriting result 19.8 13.7 33.5 

Investment return  19.0 9.0 28.0 

Balance on the technical account 38.8 22.7 61.5 

    

    

Year ended 31 December 2018 
Brit Global 

Specialty Direct 
Brit Global Specialty 

Reinsurance  Total 

  US$m US$m US$m 

Gross premiums written 1,758.0 451.8 2,209.8 

Net premiums written 954.0 290.0 1,244.0 

Net premiums earned 954.0 282.4 1,236.4 

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance (429.4) (216.8) (646.2) 

Net operating expenses (542.6) (104.5) (647.1) 

Underwriting result (18.0) (38.9) (56.9) 

Investment return  37.3 13.1 50.4 

Balance on the technical account 19.3 (25.8) (6.5) 
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5            Net operating expenses 
 

 2019 2018 

  US$m US$m 

Acquisition costs 538.0 536.7 

Change in deferred acquisition costs (8.9) (6.5) 

Administrative expenses 176.9 183.9 

 706.0 714.1 

Reinsurance commissions income (77.4) (67.0) 

Total 628.6 647.1 

 
The auditors’ remuneration and audit services charged to the Syndicate within the fixed fee charged by the 
Managing Agent and the auditors’ remuneration borne by another group company are as follows: 
 

 2019 2018 

  US$’000 US$’000 

Audit of the Syndicate annual accounts 483.3 488.3 

Other services pursuant to Regulations and Lloyd’s Byelaws 146.5 175.3 

Total 629.8 663.6 

 
Member’s standard personal expenses of US$16.0m (2018: US$15.2m) are included within administrative 
expenses. 
 
6 Staff numbers and costs 
 
All staff in the UK are employed by the Group services company, Brit Group Services Limited, and the full staff 
cost disclosures are included in the notes to those accounts. Amounts are recharged to the Syndicate as part of 
the fixed fee charged by the Managing Agent.  
 
7 Remuneration of the Directors of Brit Syndicates Limited and Active Underwriter 
 
No remuneration of the Directors of Brit Syndicates Limited has been charged to the Syndicate for the 2019 and 
2018 calendar years. 
 
The active underwriter received the following remuneration charged to the Syndicate and included within the fixed 
fee charged by the Managing Agent: 

 2019 2018 

  US$m US$m 

Aggregate remuneration 0.8 1.0 

Pension contributions                            -                               -    

Total 0.8 1.0 

 
No advances or credit were granted by the Managing Agent to any of its Directors during the year. 
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8 Investment return   
 
The investment income retained in the non-technical account relates to investment income on Funds in 
Syndicate (see note 20). 
 

 2019 2018 

  US$m US$m 

Income from investments 43.9 40.5 

Gains on investments 66.8 112.4 

Losses on investments (68.8) (128.0) 

Investment management charges (6.0) (6.8) 

 35.9 18.1 

Allocated investment return transferred to the general business 
technical account 28.0 50.4 

Net investment return included in the non-technical account 7.9 (32.3) 

Total investment return 35.9 18.1 

 
9 Claims development tables 
 
The following tables illustrate the development of the estimates of earned ultimate cumulative claims incurred, 
including claims notified and IBNR, for each successive underwriting year, illustrating how amounts estimated 
have changed from the first estimates made. Non US dollar cumulative claims estimates and cumulative 
payments are translated into US dollars at the period end rate as at 31 December 2019. 
 
As these tables are on an underwriting year basis, there is an apparent large increase from amounts reported for 
the end of the underwriting year to one year later as a large proportion of premiums are earned in the year of 
account’s second year of development. 
 
Advantage has been taken of the transitional rules of FRS 103 that permit the stepped increase in disclosure of 
claims development information. The claims development information disclosed will be increased up to ten years  
up to the 2020 year end. 
 
Estimate of cumulative gross incurred claims 

 

US$m 2010 
& 

prior 

         

Underwriting year 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

At end of underwriting 
year  441.5 475.3 441.4 475.5 452.3 531.4 906.7 819.0 644.6 

One year later  831.9 894.7 948.1 1,089.4 1,004.5 1,238.9 1,645.2 1,509.6  

Two years later  878.2 958.6 995.9 1,139.2 1,080.0 1,365.3 1,717.5   

Three years later  876.3 935.5 988.8 1,153.2 1,064.0 1,350.6    

Four years later  881.5 971.6 1,008.2 1,142.0 1,032.9     

Five years later  862.0 981.4 994.0 1,122.5      

Six years later  849.1 970.2 980.7       

Seven years later  847.3 956.5        

Eight years later   849.5                 
Current estimate of 
cumulative claims 
incurred   849.5 956.5 980.7 1,122.5 1,032.9 1,350.6 1,717.5 1,509.6 644.6 

Cumulative payments   770.2 795.4 778.9 858.3 677.8 840.6 926.7 518.0 43.7 

Gross outstanding 
claims provision as 
at 31 December 2019 320.1 79.3 161.1 201.8 264.2 355.1 510.0 790.8 991.6 600.9 
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9 Claims development tables (continued) 

 
Estimate of cumulative net incurred claims 
 
 

US$m 2010 
& 

prior 

         

Underwriting year 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

At end of underwriting 
year  310.3 327.3 297.3 331.3 307.2 336.5 464.0 472.7 366.9 

One year later  589.3 622.8 642.2 731.5 691.0 734.2 817.9 848.7  

Two years later  614.7 657.4 673.9 766.3 726.4 775.3 854.3   

Three years later  602.0 642.9 671.9 768.3 695.6 774.1    

Four years later  602.0 651.5 677.3 722.8 670.3     

Five years later  588.3 650.7 635.6 715.7      

Six years later  576.4 621.0 623.6       

Seven years later  569.9 612.2        

Eight years later   569.3                 

Current estimate of 
cumulative claims incurred   569.3 612.2 623.6 715.7 670.3 774.1 854.3 848.7 366.9 

Cumulative payments to date 517.3 523.7 511.2 563.3 452.4 504.1 466.2 310.7 34.8 

Net outstanding claims 
provision as at 31 
December 2019 153.8 52.0 88.5 112.4 152.4 217.9 270.0 388.1 538.0 332.1 

 
10 Financial investments 
 

  Market Value  Cost 

 2019 2018 2019 2018 

  US$m       US$m       US$m US$m 

Shares and other variable yield 
securities and units in unit trusts 330.2 260.0 298.4 253.0 

Debt securities and other fixed 
income securities 1,675.2 1,364.1 1,659.0 1,440.6 

Derivative contracts 1.5 13.5 16.8 16.8 

Other investments - 29.5 - 27.1 

Total 2,006.9 1,667.1 1,974.2 1,737.5 

 
Other investments’ relates to loan instrument securities including senior secured and second lien debt. 
 
US$13.6m (2018: US$29.9m) of ‘Shares and other variable yield securities and units in unit trusts’ and ‘Debt 
securities and other fixed income securities’ are listed. These comprise 0.7% (2018: 1.8%) of the total market 
value of investments.  
 
All financial investments have been designated as held at fair value through profit or loss. 
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10 Financial investments (continued) 
 
The following table shows financial investments recorded at fair value analysed between the three levels in the 
fair value hierarchy: 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Year ended 31 December 
2019 US$m US$m US$m US$m 

Equity securities 13.6 - 139.4 153.0 

Debt securities 577.0 1,098.2 - 1,675.2 

Loan instrument securities - - - - 

Derivative contracts - 1.2 0.3 1.5 

Specialised investment funds 116.2 46.2 14.8 177.2 

Total 706.8 1,145.6 154.5 2,006.9 

     

     

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Year ended 31 December 
2018 US$m US$m US$m US$m 

Equity securities 12.3 17.6 100.9 130.8 

Debt securities 830.5 533.6 - 1,364.1 

Loan instrument securities - - 29.5 29.5 

Derivative contracts - 12.7 0.8 13.5 

Specialised investment funds 89.6 25.6 14.0 129.2 

Total 932.4 589.5 145.2 1,667.1 

 
a. Basis for determining the fair value hierarchy of financial instruments 

The Syndicate has classified the fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making those measurements. The fair value hierarchy comprises the following levels: 

(i) Level one – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 

(ii) Level two – inputs other than quoted prices included within level one that are observable for the asset, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

(iii) Level three – inputs for the assets that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

Assets are categorised as level one where fair values determined in whole directly by reference to an active 
market relate to prices which are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, 
pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions on an arm’s length basis, i.e. the market is still active. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised at fair value on a recurring basis, the Syndicate determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level 
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
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10 Financial investments (continued) 

Fair values for level two and level three assets include: 

• Values provided at the request of the Syndicate by pricing services and which are not publicly available or 
values provided by external parties which are readily available but relate to assets for which the market is 
not always active; and 

• Assets measured on the basis of valuation techniques including a varying degree of assumptions supported 
by market transactions and observable data. 

For all assets not quoted in an active market or for which there is no active market, the availability of financial 
data can vary and is affected by a wide variety of factors, including the type of financial instrument, whether it is 
new and not yet established in the marketplace, and other characteristics specific to each transaction. To the 
extent that valuation is based on the models or inputs that are unobservable in the market, the determination of 
fair value requires more judgement. Accordingly, the degree of judgement exercised is higher for instruments 
classified in level three and the classification between level two and level three depends highly on the proportion 
of assumptions used, supported by market transactions and observable data. 

b. Valuation techniques 
 
Level one 

These represent assets traded in an active market whose quoted price is readily and regularly available and 
those prices represent actual and regular transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

Level two 

Inputs include directly or indirectly observable inputs (other than level one inputs) such as quoted prices for similar 
financial instruments exchanged in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar financial instruments 
exchanged in inactive markets and other market observable inputs.  

Level two securities contain certain investments in US and non-US government agency securities, US and non-
US corporate debt securities and specialised investment funds. US government agency securities are priced 
using valuations from independent pricing vendors who use discounted cash flow models supplemented with 
market and credit research to gather specific information. Market observable inputs for these investments may 
include broker-dealer quotes, reported trades, issuer spreads and available bids. Non US government agency 
securities are priced with OTC quotes or broker-dealer quotes. Other market observable inputs include 
benchmark yields and reported trades. Issuer spreads are also available for these types of investments. 

US and non-US corporate debt securities are investment grade and the information collected during pricing of 
these instruments includes credit data as well as other observations from the market and the particular sector. 
Prices for all these securities are based on a limited number of transactions (OTC prices/broker-dealer quotes) 
so they are derived indirectly using inputs that can be corroborated by observable market data. These also include 
certain private placement corporate debt securities which are valued with the use of discounted cash flow models. 

Level two specialised investment funds contain credit opportunities funds that are valued based on the underlying 
assets in the fund on a security by security basis. A number of direct and indirect inputs such as benchmark yield 
curves, credit spreads, estimated default rates, anticipated market interest rate volatility, coupon rates and 
anticipated timing of principal repayments are considered during their valuation. 
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10 Financial investments (continued) 
 
Level three 

Level three securities contain investments in private equity/limited partnerships/debt where the fund’s underlying 
investments are not traded/quoted in an active market. Pricing models factor in interest rates, bond or credit swap 
spreads and volatility. 

Level three specialised investment funds include securities that are valued using techniques appropriate to each 
specific investment. The valuation techniques include fair value by reference to net asset values (NAVs) adjusted 
and issued by fund managers based on their knowledge of underlying investments and credit spreads of 
counterparties. In some instances, certain investment funds are classified as Level three because they may 
require at least three months’ notice to liquidate. 

Level three equities include investments in limited partnerships where the fund’s underlying investments are not 
traded/quoted in an active market. In some instances, limited partnerships are classified as level three because 
they may require at least three months of notice to liquidate. Lloyd’s introduced Syndicate loans to the Central 
Fund with effect from the 2019 year of account and plan to continue to do so in subsequent years, subject to 
PRA approval each year. The proceeds from these loans are used to strengthen Lloyd’s central resources and 
facilitate the injection of capital into Lloyd’s Insurance Company SA (Lloyd’s Brussels). Loans will not be repaid 
before 5 years have elapsed. Interest thereon will be determined by reference to the risk-free yield plus a credit 
spread, and will normally be paid annually on an anniversary of the loan. The investment has been classified as 
an equity share for which the fair value cannot be determined using direct or indirect observable inputs, Therefore 
this has been classified as Level 3. 

11 Derivative contracts 
 
The Syndicate purchases derivative financial instruments: 

i) to hedge its foreign currency exposure on future commitments; 

ii) as part of its investment management strategy. 

 

 2019 2018 

Assets and liabilities US$m US$m 

Foreign exchange forward contract assets 1.2 12.7 

Equity options - - 

Non-currency based inflation options 0.3 0.8 

Other financial investments – derivatives 1.5 13.5 

Foreign exchange forward contracts liabilities (12.4) (2.8) 

Net value of derivatives at 31 December (10.9) 10.7 

 
The hierarchy of fair values of derivatives contracts is included within the Fair Value Hierarchy in note 10 
above. 
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12  Provision for unearned premium 

 
 

 Gross Reinsurers’ share Net 

  US$m US$m US$m 

Balance at 1 January 2019 909.5 (352.3) 557.2 

Premiums written in the year 2,262.4 (867.3) 1,395.1 

Premiums earned in the year (2,206.4) 834.6 (1,371.8) 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 7.0 (2.5) 4.5 

Balance at 31 December  2019 972.5 (387.5) 585.0 

    

 Gross Reinsurers’ share Net 

  US$m US$m US$m 

Balance at 1 January 2018 897.1 (338.4) 558.7 

Premiums written in the year 2,209.8 (965.8) 1,244.0 

Premiums earned in the year (2,183.2) 946.8 (1,236.4) 

Effect of movement in exchange rates (14.2) 5.1 (9.1) 

Balance at 31 December  2018 909.5 (352.3) 557.2 

 
13  Claims outstanding 

 

 Gross 
Reinsurers’ 

share Net 

  US$m US$m US$m 

Balance at 1 January 2019 4,321.6 (2,068.3) 2,253.3 

Claims incurred in relation to current underwriting 
year 

639.3 (274.9) 364.4 

Claims incurred in relation to prior underwriting 
years 

629.2 (283.9) 345.3 

Claims paid in the year (1,350.7) 684.6 (666.1) 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 35.5 (27.2) 8.3 

Balance at 31 December  2019 4,274.9 (1,969.7) 2,305.2 

    

    

 Gross 
Reinsurers’ 

share Net 

  US$m US$m US$m 

Balance at 1 January 2018 4,132.9 (1,779.7) 2,353.2 

Claims incurred in relation to current underwriting 
year 

821.4 (347.3) 474.1 

Claims incurred in relation to prior underwriting 
years 

789.7 (617.6) 172.1 

Claims paid in the year (1,343.9) 618.4 (725.5) 

Effect of movement in exchange rates (78.5) 57.9 (20.6) 

Balance at 31 December  2018 4,321.6 (2,068.3) 2,253.3 
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14 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 

2019 2018 

  US$m US$m 

Cash at bank and in hand 31.1 25.0 

Short-term deposits 229.0 109.8 

Total 260.1 134.8 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank and in hand, short-term deposits and other highly liquid 
investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition. Short-term deposits are 
presented within Financial Investments on the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
15 Other assets 
 
Other assets comprise of only overseas deposits which are lodged as a condition of conducting underwriting 
business in certain countries. 
 
16 Deferred acquisition costs 
 

 

2019 2018 

US$m US$m 

Balance at 1 January 243.0 241.6 

Change in deferred acquisition costs 8.9 6.5 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 2.6 (5.1) 

Balance at 31 December 254.5 243.0 

 
17 Creditors arising out of direct insurance operations 

 

2019 2018 

US$m US$m 

Due to intermediaries within one year 38.5 13.1 

Total 38.5 13.1 

 
18 Related parties  
 
 
a. Group companies 
 
All trading with companies within the Brit Group has been carried out on an arm’s length basis. 
 
(i) Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited (FFHL) 
 

In June 2015, the parent company of the Managing Agent was acquired by FFHL Group Limited, a subsidiary of 
FFHL. The Syndicate has historically entered into various reinsurance arrangements with affiliates of FFHL.  

 
In respect of insurance and ceded outwards reinsurance activity, the amounts included in the income statement 
relating to trading with affiliates of FFHL were as follows: 
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18 Related parties (continued) 
 

 2019 2018 

  US$m US$m 

Gross premiums written 48.0 17.8 

Outwards reinsurance premiums (18.6) (182.2) 

Premiums written, net of reinsurance 29.4 (164.4)  
  

Change in provision for gross unearned premiums (2.4) (1.5) 

Change in provision for unearned premiums, reinsurers' share 5.7 (0.1) 

Net change in the provision for unearned premiums 3.3 (1.6) 

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance 32.7 (166.0) 
   

Gross claims paid (12.9) (3.1) 

Reinsurers' share of claims paid 43.6 9.7 

Net claims paid 30.7 6.6 
   

Change in the provision for claims, gross amount (0.3) (10.1) 

Change in the provision for claims, reinsurers' share (39.3) 151.7 

Net change in the provision for claims (39.6) 141.6 
 

  
Commission income - 0.5 

Commission expense (10.7) (4.7) 

 
The amounts included in the statement of financial position outstanding with affiliates of FFHL and its affiliates 
as at 31 December 2019 were as follows: 
 

 

2019 2018 

US$m US$m 
   

Debtors arising out of direct insurance and reinsurance operations:   

Insurance premium receivable 7.9 22.8 

Recoverable from reinsurers 157.9 197.7 
   

Creditors arising out of direct insurance and reinsurance operations:   

Payable to reinsurers (8.1) (0.9) 

Unpaid claims liabilities (50.7) (51.3) 
   

Deferred acquisition costs 1.9 1.9 

Gross unearned premiums (9.9) (8.4) 

   
Unearned premium recoverable from reinsurers 6.2 0.5 
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18 Related parties (continued) 
 
(ii) Brit UW Limited 
 
Brit UW Limited, a subsidiary of the Group and the corporate member of Syndicate 2987, provided £1,360m 
capacity in respect of the 2019 year of account (2018: £1,400m). Refer to note 19 for further information on how 
capacity is funded by the member. 
 
(iii) Brit Syndicates Limited (BSL or the Managing Agent) 
 
The Managing Agent is a wholly - owned subsidiary of Brit Insurance Holdings Limited which in turn is a subsidiary 
of Brit Limited. During the year, the Syndicate paid fees to BSL amounting to US$130.3m (2018: US$140.2m). 
As at 31 December 2019, no amounts were outstanding (2018: US$nil). The Syndicate also participates and 
leads on various Lloyd’s consortia. During the year, the Syndicate incurred consortia management fees of 
US$3.6m (2018:US$nil) and no technical advisor fees or profit commission to BSL in respect of the consortia 
agreements (2018: US$nil). 
 
(iv)  Brit Reinsurance (Bermuda) Limited (Brit Re) 
 
During the year, the Syndicate ceded reinsurance premiums to Brit Re amounting to US$237.5m (2018: 
US$187.4m). As at 31 December 2019, the Syndicate owed US$127.0m of premiums to Brit Re (2018: 
US$77.2m). Collateral available for immediate drawdown in the event of a default includes collateral for Brit Re 
of up to US$712.0m (2018: US$773.3m). 
 
(v)  Brit Insurance Services USA, Inc. 
 
During the year, the Syndicate paid commissions to Brit Insurance Services USA, Inc., a service company within 
the Brit Limited Group, amounting to US$29.8m (2018: US$27.2m). As at 31 December 2019, no amounts of 
commission were outstanding (2018: US$nil). As at 31 December 2019, Brit Insurance Services USA, Inc. owed 
US$63.9m of premiums to the Syndicate (2018: US$62.7m). 
 
(vi)  BGS Services (Bermuda) Limited 
 
During the year, the Syndicate paid commissions to BGS Services (Bermuda) Limited, a service company within 
the Brit Limited Group, amounting to US$6.6m (2018: US$5.5m). As at 31 December 2019, no amounts of 
commission were outstanding (2018: US$nil). As at 31 December 2019, BGS Services (Bermuda) Limited owed 
US$79.3m of premiums to the Syndicate (2018: US$67.3m). 
 
b. Ambridge Partners LLC 
 
On 11 April 2019 the Brit Group exercised a call option to acquire the remaining 50% of the issued shares of 
Ambridge Partners LLC (Ambridge), following the initial acquisition of 50% in December 2015. The acquisition 
was completed on 18 April 2019 for a total purchase consideration of US$46.6m.  
 
Trading with Ambridge Partners LLC is undertaken on an arm’s-length basis and is settled in cash. The amounts 
in the income statement relating to trading with Ambridge Partners LLC for the year to 31 December 2019 included 
commission for introducing insurance business of US$13.2m (31 December 2018: US$15.4m.) 
 
The amount of premiums net of commission in the statement of financial position outstanding from Ambridge 
Partners LLC as at 31 December 2019 was US$18.0m (2018: US$6.0m).  
 
The amount of fees in the statement of financial position payable to Ambridge Partners LLC as at 31 December 
2019 was US$nil (2018: US$0.3m). 
 
The Syndicate also participates on various Lloyd’s consortia managed by Ambridge. During the year, the 
Syndicate incurred consortia management fees of US$1.1m (2018: US$nil) and no technical advisor fees or profit 
commission to BSL in respect of the consortia agreements (2018: US$nil). 
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c. North America Property Insurance Series 2019 Account A-3 (a segregated account within 
Versutus Limited) 

 
During 2017, the Syndicate entered into a reinsurance arrangement, effective 1 January 2017, with a segregated 
account of Versutus, a Bermuda-domiciled special purpose reinsurer with which the Brit Group has an established 
relationship. During the 2019 year, the Syndicate ceded reinsurance premiums to Versutus amounting to  
 
18 Related parties (continued) 
 
US$7.3m (2018: US$8.9m). As at 31 December 2019 reinsurance reserves in respect of Versutus amounted to 
US$3.5m (2018: US$8.0m). Collateral available for immediate drawdown in the event of a default includes 
collateral for Versutus of up to US$14.6m (2018: US$21.3m). 
 
d. Syndicate 2988 
 
In December 2016, Brit Syndicates Limited received approval from Lloyd’s to set up Syndicate 2988 and 
underwrite  from the 2017 year of account onward. Syndicate 2988 participates only on new and renewal business 
written by Syndicate 2987 and in excess of Syndicate 2987’s underwriting capacity. No commissions or fees are 
paid or payable between the two Syndicate entities. 
 
e. Camargue Underwriting Managers Proprietary Limited 
 
On 30 August 2016, the Group acquired 50% of the share capital of the South African company, Camargue 
Underwriting Managers Proprietary Limited (Camargue) and also entered into a call and a put option to purchase 
the remaining 50% in 2021. Camargue is a leading managing general underwriter of a range of specialised 
insurance products and specialist liability solutions in South Africa and is an important trading partner for Brit. 
Trading with Camargue is undertaken on an arm’s-length basis and is settled in cash.  
 
The amounts in the income statement relating to trading with Camargue for the year ended 31 December 2019 
included commission for introducing insurance business of US$2.9m (2018: US$3.2m). 
 
Amounts recorded in the statement of financial position in respect of premium net of commissions due from, and 
fees payable to, Camargue as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were not material. 
 
f.   RiverStone Managing Agency Limited 

On 30 November 2018, the Group entered into a loss portfolio reinsurance contract with RiverStone Managing 
Agency Limited (for and on behalf of Lloyd’s syndicate 3500), another subsidiary of the Fairfax group. The 
agreement covered the Group’s non‑US Professional Indemnity (2014 and prior), Employers’ Liability 
UK/Professional Liability UK and legacy books of business, for a premium of US$186.3m during 2018. 

g.  Sutton Specialty Risk Inc 

On 2 January 2019, Brit Insurance Holdings Limited, acquired 49% of the issued shares of Sutton Specialty Risk 
Inc (Sutton) for a total purchase consideration of CAD$17.2m and entered into a forward contract to purchase 
the remaining 51% in 2024. Sutton is a Canadian MGU, specialising in Accident and Health business.  

Trading with Sutton is undertaken on an arm’s-length basis and is settled in cash. The amounts in the income 
statement relating to trading with Sutton for the period from 2 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 included 
commission for introducing insurance business of US$1.1m.  

Amounts recorded in the statement of financial position in respect of premium net of commissions due from, and 
fees payable to, Sutton as at 31 December 2019 were not material. 
 
h. Key Management personnel compensation 
 
For the purposes of FRS 102, the active underwriter is deemed to be the key management personnel. 
Compensation, including share-based payments, incurred by the key management personnel in 2019 was 
US$0.9m (2018: US$1.1m). 
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18 Related parties (continued) 

i. Directors of Brit Syndicates Limited 
 
For information relating to the remuneration of the Directors of Brit Syndicates Limited, refer to note 7. 
 
There are no related party Director disclosures to note for the year ended 31 December 2019, nor for the 
comparative year ended 31 December 2018. 
 
19  Funds at Lloyd’s 
 
Every member is required to provide capital at Lloyd’s which is held in trust and known as funds at Lloyd’s (FAL). 
These funds are intended primarily to cover circumstances where Syndicate assets prove insufficient to meet 
participating members’ underwriting liabilities. 
 
The level of FAL that Lloyd’s requires a member to maintain is determined by Lloyd’s based on the UK Prudential 
Regulation Authority (PRA) requirements and resource criteria. FAL has regard to a number of factors including 
but not limited to the nature and amount of risk to be underwritten by the member and the assessment of the 
reserving risk in respect of business that has been underwritten. Secured instruments and assets supporting the 
underwriting at Lloyd’s at 31 December 2019 are US$1,285.5m (2018: US$1,184.8m). The Managing Agent is 
able to make a call on the member’s FAL to meet liquidity requirements or to settle losses. 
 
20  Funds in Syndicate (FIS) 
 
As at 31 December 2019, the Syndicate held US$397.8m (2018: US$233.8m) of undistributed profit. The 
investment return for the calendar year was US$7.9m (2018: loss US$32.3m). During 2019 the 2016 closed year 
of account result of $46.4m was invested within FIS. In 2019 capital injections of US$83.8m and US$29.0m 
occurred with a subsequent release of US$2.9m. Funds in syndicate are included in the statement of financial 
position under financial investments and the associated investment income reported in the non-technical account. 
 
21 Subsequent events 

 
There are no subsequent events to note as at the date of approval of the accounts. 
 
22 Ultimate holding company 
 
The Managing Agent is a wholly owned subsidiary of Brit Insurance Holdings Limited, a company registered in 
England and Wales. The intermediate holding company, in which the Managing Agent’s result is consolidated, is 
Brit Limited (Brit), a company registered in England and Wales. Copies of Brit’s consolidated accounts can be 
obtained by writing to The Leadenhall Building, 122 Leadenhall Street, London EC3V 4AB, or from the website 
www.britinsurance.com. 
 
The ultimate parent undertaking at the year-end is Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited (Fairfax), a company 
registered in Toronto. Copies of Fairfax consolidated accounts can be obtained by writing to 95 Wellington Street 
West, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5J 2N7 or from the website www.fairfax.ca. 
 
  



Directors of the Managing Agent 
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Executive 
Mark Andrew Allan 
Matthew Dominic Wilson 
Christiern Robert James Dart  
Michael David Jeremy Gould  
 
Non-Executive 
Simon Philip Guy Lee 
Anthony John Medniuk 
Caroline Frances Ramsay 
Andrea Caroline Natascha Welsch  
Pinar Yetgin  
 
Secretary 
Tim James Harmer  
 
Active Underwriter 
Jonathan Sullivan  
 
Registered Office 
The Leadenhall Building 
122 Leadenhall Street 
London 
EC3V 4AB 
 
Independent Auditors 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
7 More London, Riverside 
London 
SE1 2RT  
 

 



Brit Syndicates Limited
The Leadenhall Building, 122 Leadenhall Street, London, EC3V 4AB, UK
www.britinsurance.com
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